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 1 Wednesday, 10 November 2010

 2 (10.00 am)

 3 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Keith, we should state for the

 4 record that after I adjourned yesterday for the day

 5 I was informed of the Secretary of State's decision to

 6 challenge part of my ruling, the part that relates to

 7 closed evidential hearings. We are trying to ensure

 8 that the challenge comes on as soon as possible and

 9 I understand we're fairly optimistic it may be possible

10 to hear it next week, but we're obviously in the hands

11 of the court listing.

12 MR KEITH: Thank you, my Lady, I know that Mr Smith has

13 taken time to email all the interested persons in

14 relation to the prospective arrangements.

15 In connection with regards to yesterday, my Lady,

16 I do know that Mr Saunders and Ms Gallagher have one or

17 two words to say.

18 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Before they do, is it to do with the

19 families concerned about the fact that it seems that the

20 press were informed of the decision before I was,

21 I noted that at least one of the members of the families

22 was interviewed yesterday on the television and,

23 therefore, I have made enquiries.

24 I understand, Ms Gallagher and Mr Saunders and those

25 that were concerned, that in the rush to announce the
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 1 decision, because, of course, I had set, again, a tight

 2 timetable, which I didn't actually in law have the power

 3 to do, unfortunately the press were informed of the

 4 decision because I was actually sitting, and that's what

 5 happened. It was because we were all in court.

 6 I have been informed that no discourtesy or

 7 disrespect was intended, and I have received assurances

 8 that it's hoped it will not happen again, but I did very

 9 much take on board the concerns of the family and you

10 may take it that I have my own concerns.

11 MR SAUNDERS: Can I say I think your Ladyship has covered

12 exactly the points that both Ms Gallagher and I had

13 wanted to raise. Mrs Nicholson is here and was

14 obviously asked yesterday for her comments and

15 observations and, as your Ladyship knows, was very

16 upset, distraught, as were all the families --

17 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I'm not surprised.

18 MR SAUNDERS: -- who have learned in that way. We were able

19 to assure them that, if your Ladyship had known, we

20 would have been told in advance of that publicity coming

21 out, and your Ladyship has made it absolutely plain, for

22 which we are very grateful as always, but there is this

23 concern with the families that it is as if matters take

24 place and they are -- and they feel sometimes they are

25 the last to be told something that is central. But
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 1 I think I won't need to say any more, your Ladyship has

 2 already dealt with it in your observations.

 3 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I think I was probably the last to

 4 know, actually, Mr Saunders, on this occasion, but I am

 5 assured it will not happen again.

 6 MR SAUNDERS: Thank you very much, my Lady.

 7 MS GALLAGHER: My Lady, just one further thing on that.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Of course, Ms Gallagher.

 9 MS GALLAGHER: Very grateful for what you have said and

10 I echo what's been said by Mr Saunders regarding the

11 insensitivity to the family. As well as Mrs Nicholson,

12 you may have seen coverage of Mr Graham Foulkes making

13 similar points, because he learnt, firstly, from

14 a journalist, and then, secondly, I understand the story

15 came up on screen on some of the monitors on court and

16 it was seen by some of the families on the back of the

17 courtroom, they could see the BBC web page and they

18 learnt of it in that way.

19 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So in court?

20 MS GALLAGHER: In court. I'm afraid it did come up on

21 a monitor, so it could actually be seen in court. It

22 obviously caused some consternation and some distress.

23 I can say I understand that we were sitting and, of

24 course, the Inquest team didn't learn of it until after

25 you rose, but a number of solicitors do have access to
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 1 email in court, and email could have been instantly seen

 2 in court. Had there even been a short time lag between

 3 the press being told and the families being notified, we

 4 could at least have taken steps to alert them, rather

 5 than them learning about it in that very distressing and

 6 insensitive way.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Indeed.

 8 MS GALLAGHER: So we are very grateful for the indication

 9 you have given and the assurances that you have

10 received. I think that will hopefully assuage the

11 concerns of Mrs Nicholson and Mr Foulkes and the other

12 families who learnt about it in that manner.

13 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I will have to know more about what

14 came up on the screen.

15 MS GALLAGHER: My Lady, I can clarify, it's not that screen.

16 It was simply someone using the internet on a monitor.

17 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Oh, I see, because the legal

18 representatives have access to the internet for the

19 Lextranet?

20 MS GALLAGHER: It was simply somebody doing a Google search

21 or checking the BBC website, but I am afraid that is how

22 they learnt about it. It certainly wasn't learned about

23 formally through the formal screens, but it was seen on

24 monitors, because people check the BBC website, possibly

25 through Google or through checking the BBC website after
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 1 a tipoff. They learnt of it that way. They saw the

 2 headline, and then it was only subsequently, when we

 3 made enquiries, we learnt from the Inquest team about

 4 what was happening.

 5 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I think Mr Garnham is attending,

 6 Mr Keith, this afternoon, is he not, for an open

 7 directions hearing?

 8 MR KEITH: My Lady, I hadn't heard that, in fact. Perhaps

 9 my Lady is better informed. Certainly there is

10 a directions hearing.

11 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I think Mr Garnham is coming.

12 Obviously he will have been informed, I hope, by the

13 time he comes, of the concern that's been expressed on

14 what's happened, and I'm sure he would wish to reiterate

15 the assurances I've already received that it really

16 wasn't intended to be this way, and it shouldn't have

17 been this way.

18 MR KEITH: My Lady, yes. He will have heard what my Lady

19 has said, and what my learned friends have said also.

20 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much.

21 The second matter was that Mr Bourbrook has taken

22 advantage of the opportunity I have offered to witnesses

23 generally to raise a matter that he felt he didn't deal

24 with during the course of his evidence, and he asked me

25 to explore the question of whether or not it should be
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 1 easier to open train doors; in other words, he was

 2 concerned that people in the adjoining train could not

 3 get through to help the passengers in the bombed

 4 carriage. So I mention that so that anybody can pursue

 5 it. It's a matter that caused him concern and I'm

 6 grateful to him for letting me know.

 7 MR KEITH: Thank you. May I say that is a very valuable

 8 suggestion and we have received a number of observations

 9 about the way in which the train carriages operated in

10 the event of an emergency and we have identified

11 a witness from London Underground to whom those issues

12 may be put towards the end of the Edgware Road evidence.

13 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Very helpful, thank you very much.

14 MR KEITH: Mr Hay will call the first witness.

15 MR HAY: My Lady, may I invite you to call Matthew Childs,

16 please.

17 MR MATTHEW ELTON CHILDS (sworn)

18 Questions by MR HAY

19 MR HAY: Mr Childs, good morning. Could you give your full

20 name to the court, please?

21 A. Matthew Elton Childs.

22 Q. Mr Childs, I want to ask you some questions regarding

23 the events of 7 July. On that day, you were working in

24 Reading. You were intending on travelling from

25 Paddington to Reading?
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 1 A. That's right.

 2 Q. You were hoping to catch the 9.00 train from Paddington?

 3 A. That's right.

 4 Q. You boarded the Tube at Wimbledon Park?

 5 A. That's right.

 6 Q. You caught the District Line?

 7 A. I did.

 8 Q. But you were so engrossed in your newspaper that you

 9 missed your stop?

10 A. I was unfortunately, yes.

11 Q. You realised, once you had passed Paddington, that the

12 next stop was Edgware Road?

13 A. Yes, I actually work at -- I did work at Edgware

14 full-time and I was going to a client at Paddington, so

15 I was kind of thinking the other workplace and went one

16 stop too far.

17 Q. So you got out at Edgware Road?

18 A. I did.

19 Q. Perhaps to make your way over to the other side of the

20 platform?

21 A. I ran as fast as I could because I was late.

22 Q. As you were coming down the steps, the westbound

23 Circle Line train was pulling in?

24 A. It was.

25 Q. You boarded that train?
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 1 A. I did.

 2 Q. Do you remember which carriage you boarded?

 3 A. I boarded the carriage which was closest to the steps to

 4 get on to it, and it was the carriage that the bomb went

 5 off on.

 6 Q. I think we know that to be the second carriage. Can we

 7 have up on the screen, please, [INQ10282-8] ?

 8 Mr Childs, this is a diagram of the carriage based

 9 upon the witness statements the Metropolitan Police

10 received and on that they have positioned where everyone

11 was sitting.

12 So that you have your bearings, the left-hand side

13 is the front of the carriage. The right-hand side is

14 the rear of the carriage, and you are positioned -- if

15 you look at the bottom, you'll see passengers positioned

16 based on witness statements -- number 4 is you, and that

17 positions you right at the front of the carriage by the

18 screen. Is that the correct position as to where you

19 were sitting?

20 A. It is.

21 Q. What do you recollect of the person sitting to your

22 left?

23 A. The person sitting to my left, I know who she is now,

24 and at the time was obviously affected by the bomb

25 damage and looked very different at the time, she was
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 1 covered at the time with lots of black soot, looked very

 2 fragile, and a lot more elderly than I actually know her

 3 to be now.

 4 Q. I think you know her to be now Kathleen Lazenbatt?

 5 A. That's correct.

 6 Q. What about the people sitting opposite you, what do you

 7 recollect about them?

 8 A. I remember that they were -- they looked to be workmen,

 9 that they were carrying hard hats and seemed to be

10 wearing a similar uniform, both two gentlemen, one

11 slightly older than the other.

12 Q. The train moved off from Edgware Road and then the

13 explosion occurred. What do you recollect of the

14 explosion itself?

15 A. Just that everything went incredibly -- just went white.

16 The force was like nothing I'd ever experienced before,

17 and it seemed to come from above to me, the force.

18 I really felt the only thing that I thought -- it's

19 amazing how much you think at the time about what's

20 actually happening to you, but I assumed that the roof

21 of the tunnel had come in and had just hit me, so

22 I thought it was a localised, personal thing that was

23 happening to me at the time because the force was so

24 strong.

25 Q. Do you know whether or not you lost consciousness at
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 1 all?

 2 A. I think potentially for a number of seconds.

 3 Q. When you came round, what do you remember?

 4 A. Just that it was all very, very black. I remember there

 5 being screaming. At first, I thought that the screaming

 6 was directly at me because I thought that it was just

 7 myself that had been injured and, you know, as I said,

 8 I thought that my head had been taken off, the force was

 9 so strong, but I gradually began to realise that it was

10 a much bigger event and that the whole of the carriage

11 was affected, it was all very, very dark and there

12 was -- you know, there was screaming.

13 Q. Was there any emergency lighting on at all in the

14 carriage?

15 A. Yes, just the -- I remember there being a very faint

16 light, the emergency lights I assume they were.

17 Q. Understandably, you were concerned as to whether or not

18 you were injured?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. Did you check yourself over?

21 A. I did. Like I said, I really thought it was something

22 had happened to my head so I remember being quite

23 concerned to check my face, that my facial features were

24 still intact, and then I went on to check the rest of my

25 body and I had a number of wounds that I was able to
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 1 feel to my lower legs in particular.

 2 Q. The wounds to your lower leg, I'm sorry to make you

 3 describe this, but the left leg, what did you notice

 4 about that?

 5 A. On the left leg, I had a number of puncture wounds where

 6 debris had hit the leg, and also I think the leg was --

 7 I remember my legs being -- there being some form of

 8 debris over my legs and them being trapped in some way.

 9 Q. Were you able to remove that debris?

10 A. Eventually, yes, it was -- yes.

11 Q. Was that something you were able to do on your own, or

12 do you know if someone helped you?

13 A. I think I was helped, but I can't remember exactly.

14 Q. What about your right leg?

15 A. Well, the right leg was where I found there was greater

16 damage, in that there was a bigger wound at the bottom

17 of -- on my ankle, where there was a very heavy

18 bleeding, and I noticed there was quite a depth of

19 a hole in my foot, and also there were other debris

20 wounds which went up the rest of the back of my leg.

21 Q. Did you do anything to try to stem the blood flow?

22 A. I tried to make a tourniquet to try to stop the blood

23 with my shirt, and then there were a number of other

24 people that helped me try to do the same thing. There

25 were two people from the first carriage who were on
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 1 their way through trying to leave. One lady gave me

 2 a scarf, which I tried to use. I think another

 3 gentleman gave me a tie, and then, eventually, a third

 4 person off the train which had stopped alongside our

 5 train, who got on, he was able to help me stem the

 6 blood.

 7 Q. I think that was Mr Hucklesby and I'm going to come on

 8 to him in a little moment.

 9 A. Okay.

10 Q. What about the lady to the left of you, Ms Lazenbatt,

11 how was she?

12 A. Just very shaken, very quiet, wasn't saying anything

13 that I could really recognise, and I just really -- we

14 just used each other, really, as a bit of comfort,

15 I think, I remember us holding hands and just trying to

16 talk to each other, that kind of thing.

17 Q. Can you remember what was discussed?

18 A. Just that I think, you know, "You're going to be okay",

19 that kind of thing, it was just reassurance, I think,

20 more than anything.

21 Q. Did there come a point when you were aware of events in

22 front of you in the carriage?

23 A. Yes, I started to look around because I was trying to

24 understand exactly what had happened. So I was -- I saw

25 the people in front of me and people to my right and
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 1 I could see as far as what appeared to be a black area

 2 in the bottom of the carriage.

 3 Q. Can we have up on the screen, please, page 9 of the

 4 exhibit? Thank you very much.

 5 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: As you tried to look around,

 6 Mr Childs, what was the lighting like? You had said

 7 there had been this dim emergency lighting and,

 8 presumably, for a few seconds after the explosion, you

 9 couldn't see anything. What was it like after the sort

10 of smoke began to clear, or how good a visibility did

11 you have?

12 A. The visibility so far down the carriage, I could at

13 least see to where the next opening was and further down

14 I could make out shapes, I could make out, you know,

15 shadows of people and that kind of thing.

16 So it was -- there was enough light to be able to

17 see, but only so far.

18 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you.

19 MR HAY: When you say there was enough light to see, but

20 only so far, perhaps just using the plan in front of

21 you -- you can see that the areas of the doors are

22 marked double door D2 through to double door D8.

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. How far, using those, do you think you were able to see?

25 A. Down as far as D4.
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 1 Q. And then, after that, it became shadowy and murky?

 2 A. I couldn't really see beyond that point.

 3 Q. You were sitting in, what, seat number 31? What do you

 4 recall of the workmen in front of you, what happened to

 5 them after the explosion?

 6 A. Now I just remember there was -- I remember one man, one

 7 of the men, the older of the two gentlemen, being on the

 8 floor and the other gentleman, I think, still being in

 9 front of me on his seat.

10 Q. The gentleman who was on the floor, do you recall

11 whether or not he was trapped by debris at all?

12 A. Yes, I think he was. I think there was debris all

13 around me.

14 Q. Was he moving?

15 A. No.

16 Q. Do you know whether or not anyone checked his pulse or

17 vital signs?

18 A. I think, yes, there were a number of people that were

19 checked. He was.

20 Q. I think we now know him to be a gentleman called

21 Daniel Belsten, who my Lady is going to be hearing from

22 tomorrow. It appears he may have lost consciousness.

23 Do you recall a point when he may have come to?

24 A. I don't, no, I don't remember him getting up or --

25 Q. In the carriage -- in the area between double doors D1
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 1 and double doors D2, what do you recollect seeing there?

 2 A. There was a lady on the floor to the right.

 3 Q. What do you recollect about that lady?

 4 A. She was lying down on her front and I think her

 5 clothing -- just her clothing had been --

 6 Q. If you'd like to take a moment.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Don't worry, Mr Childs, it's totally

 8 understandable. Take your time. Would you like some

 9 water? Do you have some?

10 A. Yes, please.

11 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: If at any stage you'd like to take

12 a break, just say so. It may be easier if we try to get

13 through it, but I'm in your hands, you tell me what

14 you'd like me to do.

15 A. That's fine. She still had just her underwear on, but

16 I think some of her clothing had been removed.

17 MR HAY: Could you see whether or not she was breathing at

18 all?

19 A. I couldn't, no. She was very still.

20 Q. Do you recall if there was anyone around her?

21 A. Not at the time, not directly after the bombing, no.

22 Q. Did there come a point when you were aware of people

23 around her?

24 A. Yes, I remember that there were people trying to help

25 her and trying to resuscitate her.
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 1 Q. How many people do you remember being around her?

 2 A. I think I remember a couple of people at different

 3 times, but particularly one man I remember was trying to

 4 check her pulse and to resuscitate her.

 5 Q. Was he performing chest compressions?

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. What about mouth-to-mouth?

 8 A. I don't remember that.

 9 Q. Do you recall only one person trying to resuscitate her?

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. Was that a man or a woman?

12 A. It was a man.

13 Q. How long -- I know it's very difficult, particularly

14 given the traumatic nature of events -- but how long

15 after the bomb had elapsed do you think that was?

16 A. I think it would have been when people had managed to

17 get on from the other train, and I think probably ten

18 minutes, five, ten minutes.

19 Q. In the five or ten minutes before the people from the

20 other train, the parallel train, made their way on to

21 your carriage, do you recall whether or not that lady

22 had moved at all?

23 A. No.

24 Q. Do you recall whether or not she had exhibited any signs

25 of life during that period?
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 1 A. She hadn't.

 2 Q. Do you recall anyone else in that area?

 3 A. In --

 4 Q. In the area by the double doors D1 or D2?

 5 A. No.

 6 Q. The gentleman whom you saw trying to perform the

 7 resuscitation, are you able to describe him at all?

 8 A. I just -- I remember him having a rucksack on. I don't

 9 know whether it was -- it might -- it may well have been

10 Steve Hucklesby who helped me, but it could have been

11 somebody else as well. I just know that it was

12 a gentleman, looked like he was wearing dark clothing,

13 it might have just been the lighting, and was wearing

14 a rucksack.

15 Q. But as far as you remember, there was only one person

16 who attempted to resuscitate the lady?

17 A. There was only one person that I saw.

18 Q. You've mentioned Steve Hucklesby. I think there came

19 a point when he came to assist you. Is that right?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. What did he do?

22 A. He was trying to -- it wasn't just myself, he was trying

23 to get round as many people as possible, but I remember

24 from the train that had stopped alongside us, people

25 were trying to break the windows, which I couldn't
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 1 understand at first, and I eventually realised that what

 2 they were trying to do was trying to get off the train

 3 and on to our carriage to help people, which I'm just

 4 amazed at now. So Steve had -- was one of those people

 5 who had come off the train and, when he got to me, was

 6 just concerned about my injuries and Kathy's as well,

 7 and he basically -- along with the train driver -- tried

 8 to move me away from where I was because there was a lot

 9 of debris on the floor.

10 Q. Before you were moved, and you said you were able to see

11 across to double doors D4, what do you recollect seeing

12 in that area?

13 A. In that area, I just remember there being a real black

14 space and I -- at the time, I do remember that there was

15 somebody that appeared to be in the hole which was

16 a hole and I remember their hand reaching out of the

17 hole and asking for help.

18 Q. Do you know whether that person was male or female?

19 A. I thought at the time, by the voices I was putting to

20 things, that it was a female, but I wasn't able to see

21 the person, only the hand.

22 Q. Do you recall people trying to help that person?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. What were they trying to do?

25 A. Trying to help the person -- get the person out.

18

Hearing transcripts – 10 November 2010 – Morning session

Reproduced courtesy of www.independent.gov.uk/7julyinquests

PDF print version produced & hosted by J7: The July 7th Truth Campaign - www.julyseventh.co.uk



 1 Q. Do you know whether or not they were able to do that or

 2 are you unable to say?

 3 A. I don't think they were.

 4 Q. There came a point, you said, when Mr Hucklesby, and

 5 I think you referred to the train driver, came to move

 6 you. I just want to ask you about the train driver.

 7 What made you think he was the train driver?

 8 A. I think he was carrying a -- I think I remember he was

 9 carrying a torch and I'm sure he told me he was the

10 train driver or -- he -- I know what it was. He was

11 going backwards and forwards to the cabin and he was in

12 communication with somebody, Central Control or

13 something, because I was asking or, other people, we

14 were asking what had happened, and he seemed to be able

15 to be, you know -- he was talking with authority.

16 Q. Did you ever ask his name or did he ever tell you his

17 name?

18 A. No.

19 Q. The reason why I ask -- you may not be aware of this --

20 there was a London Underground employee at Edgware Road,

21 a Mr David Matthews, and in his witness statement he

22 refers to helping you and assisting you, but it may have

23 been that you thought he was a train driver because he

24 was wearing a London Underground uniform, the torch and

25 the like. Does that help you at all?
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 1 A. Was it him, is that what you're saying? Was it not the

 2 train driver?

 3 Q. Well, the train driver was certainly there, but also

 4 there was a London Underground employee called

 5 David Matthews.

 6 A. I don't remember that exactly. I think it was the train

 7 driver and I think that I know subsequently, after the

 8 event, that there were London Underground staff that

 9 helped to carry me off the train, and I met them.

10 Q. I think there came a point when you said that the

11 London Underground employee, a Mr Hucklesby, moved you

12 from where you were sitting. Where did they move you

13 to?

14 A. They moved me, I think, into the first carriage or --

15 yes, pretty much in between the set of doors where there

16 was room on the floor, basically.

17 Q. Did Mr Hucklesby stay with you?

18 A. Yes, he did, yes.

19 Q. What did he do?

20 A. Basically, he was just trying to keep talking to me.

21 I was obviously losing a lot of blood and feeling quite

22 drowsy, and things, you know, started to be -- fade

23 a bit more, so he just kept talking to me, reassuring

24 me, and my leg was elevated, I think it was actually

25 elevated up on to Kathy, I think.
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 1 Q. Do you recollect ever asking any of the

 2 London Underground employees what had happened?

 3 A. I remember who I thought was the train driver, I was --

 4 I had asked him what had happened.

 5 Q. What did that person tell you?

 6 A. At first, he was saying that the information he was

 7 getting, that it was an electrical surge on the lines,

 8 that it had happened at other areas on the Tube system,

 9 so at first was thinking that it was an electrical

10 surge. It was only then later that I think I had --

11 I think I had said, you know, "Is it a bomb?", and then

12 I think -- I don't know whether he was just trying to,

13 you know, not to scare me or anything --

14 Q. Panic you?

15 A. -- not to panic me, but I think he eventually said it

16 could well be that.

17 Q. There then came a point when I think help did arrive.

18 First of all, do you recollect how much time had passed

19 before medical assistance arrived?

20 A. In my head, I wasn't taking any exact -- I wasn't

21 watching the clock, obviously, at all, but it seemed to

22 me like it was about three-quarters of an hour, about

23 40 minutes, 45 minutes.

24 Q. What do you recollect about the first person that came

25 to see you to provide medical treatment?
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 1 A. The paramedics, two, a female and a male. The female

 2 I think was wearing glasses and there was a male with

 3 dark hair.

 4 Q. The female, I know you thought she may have been

 5 a paramedic, why did you think she was a paramedic?

 6 A. Because of the clothing that she was wearing, I think it

 7 was -- I think -- I'm sure there was a fluorescent

 8 aspect to it.

 9 Q. They were wearing a high visibility vest?

10 A. Yes, and also because I was administered something, an

11 injection of some kind.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Pain relief or intravenous?

13 A. It was -- I think it was -- it may well have been to

14 stop the blood, I think, to congeal the blood, I think

15 that's what I learnt since.

16 MR HAY: Do you recall whether or not the female told you

17 who they were at all?

18 A. Just that they were paramedics, that they had arrived,

19 that there were people that were injured more severely

20 than myself, and that they weren't going to be able to

21 take me off the train straightaway, that I was just

22 going to have to bear with them, and that they were

23 going to -- you know, they would be back to me.

24 Q. The reason why I ask is that there was a doctor who was

25 on her way to work that morning, Dr Elizabeth
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 1 Wynne-Evans, and she was going to travel by Underground

 2 from Edgware Road when she became aware of the incident

 3 that had happened, and her statement suggests that she

 4 went down to the carriage and that she saw you first,

 5 I was just wondering whether or not that helps you at

 6 all with your recollection. It may not, given the

 7 condition you were in.

 8 A. No, I'm sorry, I don't remember whether it was ...

 9 Q. The male paramedic who was with her, what do you

10 recollect about him?

11 A. He had dark hair. Again, I'm sure he was wearing some

12 kind of uniform. I was just so relieved, really, to see

13 them and they were just very -- very -- what's the

14 word -- professional and calm and ... yes.

15 Q. The uniform which the male paramedic was wearing, are

16 you able to describe it at all?

17 A. No. Again, I'm sure that there was some kind of

18 fluorescent aspects to the uniforms that made me think

19 that they were.

20 Q. They said that there were more seriously injured people

21 and you would have to wait. There came a point when

22 you, yourself, were moved.

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. You were taken, I think, to Queen Mary's Hospital?

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. The injuries you suffered, I think you suffered

 2 a fracture to your right leg?

 3 A. Yes, the right leg, which had the largest injury to it,

 4 was fractured, the bone was fractured up above as well,

 5 yes.

 6 Q. Is it right that your right ankle had to be

 7 reconstructed?

 8 A. It did. The hole was -- it was of a size that it needed

 9 bone reconstruction there, but also a flesh graft from

10 my back in order to seal it and to -- yes, in order to

11 seal it.

12 MR HAY: Mr Childs, thank you very much. I have no more

13 questions for you, but others might.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Saunders, I think you're going

15 first.

16 MR SAUNDERS: I am, my Lady, thank you.

17 Questions by MR SAUNDERS

18 MR SAUNDERS: Mr Childs, can I say that in the clear way you

19 have been able to give your account, a number of

20 questions I was going to ask you have already dealt with

21 so I hope to be able to keep this as short as I can.

22 I'm representing the family of Laura Webb, who is

23 the young lady you have been describing by the door.

24 After the explosion, you've described this brilliant

25 white light and I think it's right that in your
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 1 statement, which you managed to give only a fortnight

 2 after this, on 21 July, you also recounted how it had

 3 affected your sight and that you were literally blinded

 4 as a result of the explosion itself. I don't think that

 5 lasted for a long time, did it?

 6 A. No, I eventually recovered. For some time after the

 7 bombing, I was seeing a bright light which would kind of

 8 just fall down on the one side of my eye, but that

 9 eventually went.

10 Q. I think, as her Ladyship has already asked you about the

11 lighting, you're also aware the Tube that had stopped

12 going in the opposite direction --

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. -- still had its lights on which reflected into your

15 carriage?

16 A. It did, yes, that was additional lighting, yes.

17 Q. Now, clearly you were trying to deal with your own

18 injuries, you had Kathy next to you, who was also

19 injured, I think, and the two workmen across from you.

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. Would this be right, that your immediate attention was

22 on both yourself and Kathy trying to calm each other

23 down because you were obviously both injured?

24 A. I remember I wasn't able to move was the first thing, is

25 that I was pinned in. But also, when I did try to move

25

Hearing transcripts – 10 November 2010 – Morning session

Reproduced courtesy of www.independent.gov.uk/7julyinquests

PDF print version produced & hosted by J7: The July 7th Truth Campaign - www.julyseventh.co.uk



 1 myself, it was very clear that my leg was broken and

 2 that I was unable to even stand, I was unable to stand

 3 on it.

 4 Q. You also, I think, had debris, not only on your feet,

 5 but across your chest area, which is why I think you

 6 gave her Ladyship a description of as if the roof had

 7 fallen in on you.

 8 A. No, that was more to do with the feeling of the force

 9 that I felt from the bomb blast itself.

10 Q. When you're aware of Laura, as we know her to be, at D1,

11 I think you've explained very eloquently, if I may say

12 so, that you recall one person really dealing with her.

13 A. I remember seeing one person specifically.

14 Q. We're going to hear later on this morning from another

15 passenger who was sat just up from you in the next bank

16 of seats, a lady solicitor by the name of

17 Elizabeth Owen?

18 A. Yes, I know Elizabeth.

19 Q. You do, thank you. At some point, we understand,

20 Elizabeth was beside Laura as well --

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. -- at a time when Steve Hucklesby was trying to perform

23 CPR and, we think, very briefly, mouth-to-mouth

24 resuscitation.

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. Do you remember seeing Elizabeth there?

 2 A. Elizabeth has told me that she was there. I don't

 3 remember now, at the moment, no. But I think Elizabeth

 4 was, yes, around, as she has told me since.

 5 Q. But as far as your recollection is, it's really

 6 Steve Hucklesby you remember?

 7 A. It was Steve that I was focusing -- at the time, and

 8 I still don't know that it was Steve, to be honest with

 9 you, I know that Steve has said to me that he'd -- that

10 he went over. When I saw a person trying to resuscitate

11 Laura, I could not -- I'm not sure that it was Steve

12 that I saw. It may well have been.

13 Q. I think it was he that then came and was able to give

14 you some aid --

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. -- until you were eventually dealt with.

17 A. Yes.

18 MR SAUNDERS: Very many thanks.

19 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher?

20 Questions by MS GALLAGHER

21 MS GALLAGHER: Mr Childs, I'll also be brief, given the

22 questions that have already been asked by the last two

23 barristers.

24 The first thing I just want to ask you about is

25 about the person in the hole, who you initially thought
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 1 was female, but you've accepted today may have been male

 2 or female, you don't know. We now believe that to be

 3 Mr Brewster and I represent Mr Brewster's family.

 4 You were asked by Mr Hay earlier if you recalled

 5 people trying to help that person and you said "yes",

 6 and in your witness statement of July 2005, you

 7 described one person in particular, you said you saw

 8 a person trying to help the person in the hole.

 9 A. Yes.

10 Q. Could you assist us with this: do you recall one person

11 or more than one person trying to help?

12 A. I just -- I remember that there was one person was

13 trying to grab the person's hands and to help them out.

14 But I couldn't see their facial expressions or anything,

15 it really was shadows and darkness.

16 Q. Of course, we appreciate you're seeing from quite

17 a distance away in extremely difficult circumstances.

18 Just one other thing about that, if I may. You may

19 not be able to help. Do you recall one attempt to get

20 that person out of the hole or do you recall a number of

21 attempts to get the person out?

22 A. It may well have been a number of attempts.

23 Q. That's very helpful. We know from your statement or

24 from what you've said that, at some point, you had your

25 back turned to the carriage, so you can't see what's

28

Hearing transcripts – 10 November 2010 – Morning session

Reproduced courtesy of www.independent.gov.uk/7julyinquests

PDF print version produced & hosted by J7: The July 7th Truth Campaign - www.julyseventh.co.uk



 1 going on in the carriage for a period of time when

 2 you're there. But at any time at all between the

 3 bombing and the arrival of the paramedics, do you recall

 4 seeing anyone moving any of the bodies?

 5 A. No.

 6 Q. Just one last thing. You've described earlier in

 7 evidence, when Mr Hay was asking you some questions,

 8 seeing a very faint light which you assumed was

 9 emergency lighting in the carriage, and in your

10 statement you've also said that you thought there was

11 "light from the emergency lighting in our carriage".

12 Could that have been light from the tunnel outside

13 rather than the carriage itself, or can you say?

14 A. I think, as Mr Hay said, there was also light coming

15 from the train which had stopped alongside and -- yes.

16 Q. So you're aware of light coming from the adjacent train.

17 Were you aware of any other light source coming from the

18 tunnel itself rather than the adjacent train?

19 A. I wasn't aware of it.

20 MS GALLAGHER: Thank you very much. I have nothing further.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Yes, Ms Canby?

22 Questions by MS CANBY

23 MS CANBY: Mr Childs, I just have a couple of questions to

24 ask you on behalf of Transport for London. It's to try

25 to see if we can assist with the identity of the
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 1 London Underground employee who assisted you.

 2 You say that you think he was the driver of the

 3 bombed train. We know that man to be Ray Whitehurst.

 4 Now, he doesn't mention you in his witness statement,

 5 and he's giving his evidence next week. The gentleman

 6 who does mention you in his witness statement was also

 7 a train driver, but not of the bombed train. His name

 8 is David Matthews, Dave Matthews.

 9 Are you able to describe at all the gentleman who

10 assisted you from the London Underground?

11 A. I remember glasses. Not clearly enough. A gentleman,

12 I would say a middle-aged gentleman, glasses and that's

13 really it.

14 Q. Can you remember at all what he was wearing? I know

15 it's very difficult.

16 A. Again, I seem to recollect some form of uniform.

17 Q. Do you have any recollection of a high visibility vest?

18 A. Potentially, yes. Yes. Yes, I think he was wearing

19 some kind of vest.

20 Q. Was that orange, can you remember?

21 A. I don't remember.

22 MS CANBY: Thank you very much for trying, Mr Childs.

23 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Childs, you've talked about him

24 walking up and down and communicating.

25 A. Yes.
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 1 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: By that, did you mean you had the

 2 impression that he had on him some kind of radio or

 3 communication system, or that he walked up and down and

 4 seemed to be communicating somewhere else and then was

 5 able to slightly change what he was relaying to you?

 6 A. From my recollection, it seemed as though he had got

 7 information from further up the train.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So it wasn't that he was

 9 communicating on the way?

10 A. No.

11 MS CANBY: My Lady, can I ask one question arising out of

12 that?

13 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Please.

14 MS CANBY: Could you see whether or not he was communicating

15 from within the driver's cab or from further up the

16 train outside on the track?

17 A. I didn't see that.

18 MS CANBY: Thank you very much.

19 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions? Yes,

20 Ms Simcock?

21 Questions by MS SIMCOCK

22 MS SIMCOCK: Very briefly. Mr Childs, you've described the

23 first paramedic you saw as being a female with glasses

24 that arrived about 45 minutes after the explosion. Is

25 that right?
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 1 A. Yes.

 2 Q. Thank you. You knew that she was a paramedic because

 3 she was wearing a fluorescent jacket. Is that right?

 4 A. Yes, and I was told by the people that were there, the

 5 gentleman and the lady, that they were from the

 6 emergency services.

 7 Q. I see. Also, she gave you an injection?

 8 A. Yes, I was administered.

 9 Q. Do you remember where that was?

10 A. I don't know, I don't.

11 Q. We know, in fact, that the only female paramedic on the

12 train was the fifth ambulance crew to arrive at 9.24 am,

13 four crews having arrived before her from 9.13 onwards,

14 all of whom went down on to the train. Could it be that

15 there were other paramedics on the train before the one

16 you saw that you simply hadn't seen, perhaps because of

17 the problem with your eyesight due to the explosion?

18 A. Sorry, could you repeat that?

19 Q. Of course. We know that the only female paramedic on

20 the train was, in fact, one of the fifth ambulance crews

21 to arrive, four previous crews having arrived from

22 9.13 am onwards, all of whom went on to the train, and

23 I just wanted to see if it could be that there had been

24 other paramedics before the one you saw that you simply

25 hadn't seen perhaps because of your eyesight?
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 1 A. I don't think so.

 2 Q. Could it be that the person who was the female treating

 3 you wasn't, in fact, a paramedic?

 4 A. It could have been that.

 5 Q. How certain are you of the timing?

 6 A. I'm not certain at all of the timing. It's just how

 7 long it felt in terms of how long it felt that I was on

 8 the train. But as I said, I wasn't looking at my watch.

 9 MS SIMCOCK: Thank you, I'm very grateful.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions for Mr Childs?

11 Those are all the questions we have for you,

12 Mr Childs. Thank you very much for coming. I'm truly

13 sorry we had to ask you to go through that, but I'm sure

14 you appreciate it is of some assistance and sometimes

15 some comfort to some of the bereaved families. So thank

16 you very much.

17 A. Thank you.

18 MR HAY: My Lady, may I invite you to call

19 Kathleen Lazenbatt, please?

20 MS KATHLEEN LAZENBATT (sworn)

21 Questions by MR HAY

22 MR HAY: Mrs Lazenbatt, I know that you suffered some

23 hearing loss on 7 July, so if you need me to speak up

24 then please do say so.

25 A. That's fine, thank you.
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 1 Q. Can you give your full name to the court, please?

 2 A. Kathleen Lazenbatt.

 3 Q. Ms Lazenbatt, on 7 July, you were intending on

 4 travelling to Paddington?

 5 A. Yes.

 6 Q. You caught the train from Hertfordshire to Euston?

 7 A. Yes.

 8 Q. Then you walked to Euston Square?

 9 A. Yes.

10 Q. From there, do you have a particular route that you

11 would usually take to Paddington?

12 A. I would normally get either the Circle Line or the

13 Hammersmith & City Line from Euston Square to

14 Paddington.

15 Q. On that day, you caught the westbound Circle Line train?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Do you know which carriage you boarded?

18 A. I know now that I was in the second carriage. I think

19 in my first statement to the police I said it was the

20 third carriage, because that's what one of the people

21 who had helped me on the train had told me. That's

22 obviously not correct.

23 Q. Could we have up on the screen, please, [INQ10282-8] ?

24 We've heard Mr Childs say that you were sitting next to

25 him. On this diagram, that places you at number 2,
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 1 right at the front of the carriage.

 2 A. Yes.

 3 Q. Does that seem correct to you?

 4 A. Yes, it is.

 5 Q. I think you'd managed to find a copy of the Metro on the

 6 carriage --

 7 A. Yes.

 8 Q. -- and you were reading that?

 9 A. Yes, I was.

10 Q. The train left Edgware Road and then the explosion

11 occurred. What do you recollect of the explosion

12 itself?

13 A. The first thing I remember was a very loud bang, very

14 sharp, almost metallic sounding. I thought we must have

15 hit a train in front. The train shuddered to a halt.

16 I looked up and I think it was in the window opposite,

17 across the carriage, I saw a very bright white flash

18 with a fiery red cloud around it. That was just for

19 a split second, and then I was engulfed in that fiery

20 cloud from the explosion.

21 Q. That split second, presumably it felt like much longer?

22 A. It felt like much longer than that, yes.

23 Q. There came a point when things obviously settled down

24 a little bit. What did you then notice around you?

25 A. It was very difficult to see at first, because there was
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 1 so much soot in the air and I think there were no lights

 2 in the carriage.

 3 Gradually, the soot began to settle a bit and

 4 I could see the lights from the train that had stopped

 5 alongside ours, so that was putting a faint light into

 6 our carriage.

 7 Q. In terms of lighting, as far as you were aware, was

 8 there any emergency lighting on in your carriage?

 9 A. I don't remember there being any.

10 Q. But you do remember light coming from the parallel

11 train?

12 A. What I remember is the lights from the parallel train

13 which were quite bright.

14 Q. What could you see the people on the parallel train

15 doing?

16 A. They seemed to be desperately trying to open the doors

17 of the train and I could see them over and over again

18 trying to pull the doors apart. They were sometimes

19 able to pull them apart just a very small amount but no

20 further.

21 Q. Obviously you were concerned about any injuries you may

22 have suffered. Is it right that you were finding it

23 quite difficult to breathe?

24 A. I was aware there was something very wrong with my

25 chest. My chest hurt and I was finding it a bit
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 1 difficult to get my breath and certainly to speak.

 2 Q. I think you subsequently found out that you'd suffered

 3 a partially collapsed lung?

 4 A. That's right.

 5 Q. What other injuries did you have at the time?

 6 A. I had shrapnel injuries to my right ankle. There was

 7 actually quite a lot of debris lying across my feet to

 8 begin with, and at some point people came from the first

 9 carriage through to our carriage and, when they were

10 going back, I think one of them trod on some of the

11 debris across my feet, which unfortunately put me into

12 excruciating pain, and I think drove something further

13 into my foot.

14 Q. Whilst you were sitting on the carriage, we've heard

15 Mr Childs describe how you spoke to each other.

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Do you recollect that?

18 A. Yes, we did occasionally, we didn't say much, but we did

19 occasionally say a few words of reassurance to each

20 other, that people would come and get us out, and we

21 held hands at one point.

22 Q. What about the injury to his leg?

23 A. I remember him soon after the explosion saying, "There's

24 a hole in my leg", and I think two of the people who

25 came through from the first carriage and who tied
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 1 a scarf around his leg raised it up so that his leg was

 2 across my lap and I could see the blood running down the

 3 underside of his leg from his ankle injuries.

 4 Q. Can we have up on the screen page 9?

 5 From where you were sitting in seat 32, what do you

 6 recollect directly in the area in front of you?

 7 A. I remember there had been two men sitting in

 8 seats 1 and 2 opposite me, and I think they were dressed

 9 in -- possibly in blue, in some sort of workmen's

10 clothes. I don't have a clear recollection of exactly

11 what.

12 Q. Do you recollect there being debris at all on the floor

13 in front of you?

14 A. There was a lot of debris on the floor in front of me,

15 yes, in that passage between the seats at the front of

16 the carriage, including, I think, the door into the

17 carriage in front, possibly it was when the people came

18 through from that carriage, they had to push the door

19 down, I think that was lying across my feet at some

20 point.

21 Q. In the area between double doors D1 and double doors D2,

22 were you able to see anything there?

23 A. Yes, I remember quite soon after the blast hearing

24 a woman's voice calling out, "Can somebody help? She's

25 not breathing" and I looked around to that side and,
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 1 diagonally across from where I was sitting in the doors

 2 area, I could see a woman's body.

 3 Q. You said that was quite soon after the blast.

 4 A. Yes.

 5 Q. Again, I know it's very difficult. Are you able to give

 6 us any indication of time?

 7 A. I think it must have been in the first ten minutes,

 8 five, ten minutes.

 9 Q. You recollect a woman's voice saying, "Help, she's

10 stopped breathing", or words to that effect?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Do you know who that woman was?

13 A. I now know that was Elizabeth Owen.

14 Q. Where was she? Are you able to say?

15 A. I don't remember exactly where she was, but she --

16 I think she was somewhere next to the woman's body that

17 was Laura Webb's body.

18 Q. Laura Webb's body, are you able to give us some

19 indication as to where that was in the areas between

20 double doors D1 and double doors D2?

21 A. She was lying nearer to the D1 doors. As I was saying,

22 it was sort of diagonally across that standing area from

23 where I was sitting.

24 Q. Did you see any attempt to try to assist Ms Webb?

25 A. Sorry?
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 1 Q. Did you see any attempt to try to assist Ms Webb?

 2 A. Not after that, although I was told that Mr Hucklesby

 3 tried to resuscitate her. I wasn't looking in that

 4 direction very often after that time when Elizabeth Owen

 5 called out.

 6 Q. So what you really remember is Elizabeth Owen calling

 7 out --

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. -- but nothing really beyond that?

10 A. Not really after that. Nothing about Laura Webb after

11 that.

12 There was -- I think there was another body in the

13 doors area that was closer to me. I think there was

14 a man's body that was partly in the standing area on my

15 side of the carriage, and I was more aware of him as

16 time went on and I think the upper part of his body was

17 probably near the D2 doors, and then his legs were in

18 the area just in front of me between the front pairs of

19 seats, at the front of the carriage.

20 Q. That male body, at any point do you recollect if there

21 were any signs of life at all?

22 A. Absolutely none, and I did look many times, later on

23 I was actually lying on the pair of seats where Matt and

24 I had been sitting and I looked down many times and

25 I remember he was absolutely still and there was no sign
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 1 of movement at all and I don't recollect there being any

 2 movement at any time after the blast.

 3 Q. I'm sorry to ask you this, but are you able to describe

 4 the injuries that male suffered?

 5 A. I didn't see what injuries he had, so I couldn't

 6 describe that.

 7 Q. There came a point when you said passengers came through

 8 from the first carriage. I think one of them tried to

 9 assist you. Is that right?

10 A. I think I asked one of them if they could tie the cotton

11 jacket I had around my leg, because I wasn't sure how

12 much my ankle was bleeding. I don't have any more

13 memories of it than that.

14 Q. We've heard from Mr Childs that there came a point when

15 he was moved from where he was sitting towards the first

16 carriage or in the area between the first and the second

17 carriage. Did you remain where you were?

18 A. Yes, once he had been moved forward, I was able to lie

19 down across the two seats, which was actually a great

20 help to me, because, with my lung injury, I was finding

21 it quite difficult to keep sitting up at that point.

22 Q. There came a point when you were moved out of the

23 carriage by paramedics and emergency services. Are you

24 able to say whether or not you were the first person to

25 be moved or the last person to be moved?
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 1 A. I think it was right at the end. I remember that there

 2 was a point where they were going to take me out and

 3 then they changed their minds, and there were two

 4 Metronet engineers who assisted me quite a lot while

 5 I was on the train and one of them said to me, "I'm

 6 afraid you've drawn the short straw", and they decided

 7 to take Elizabeth Owen instead, who had a more serious

 8 ankle injury than I did, although I don't know whether

 9 that was the reason why they changed their minds.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Sorry, what kind of engineers, did

11 you say?

12 A. They were from Metronet, they were two engineers who

13 gave me a lot of reassurance while I was on the train

14 and actually stayed with me and helped to take me out at

15 the end.

16 But there was then a long gap when I believe there

17 were no ambulances available after Elizabeth Owen had

18 been taken out, and the two engineers stayed with me,

19 and I think there were a couple of paramedics and maybe

20 somebody else, and I remember there being a small group

21 of them who were standing at the top of the carriage

22 next to where I was lying and they were -- I think there

23 must have been nothing else to do at that point, because

24 I remember they were just standing talking to each other

25 while we were waiting for an ambulance.
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 1 MR HAY: I'm not going to ask you about timings, because

 2 I know in the statement you supplied to the police you

 3 said "I lost track of time whilst I waited along with

 4 other passengers to be rescued".

 5 A. Yes, I have an impression that the time was not very

 6 long, but I was told by people who had been there,

 7 including the engineers afterwards, that it was perhaps

 8 an hour that we waited for an ambulance to come, and

 9 I have checked with St Mary's Hospital that I was

10 admitted there at 11.10.

11 Q. Just to be clear, that hour was the ambulance for you

12 rather than the ambulances in general arriving at the

13 scene?

14 A. That was the ambulance for me, as far as I understand

15 it. That was the interval between Elizabeth Owen being

16 taken out and the ambulance coming for me.

17 Q. What I wanted to ask you about -- as it appeared you

18 spent quite a considerable period of time on the

19 carriage, I wanted to ask you about your recollection of

20 the order of arrival of the emergency services. Are you

21 able to say which of the emergency services you remember

22 seeing first?

23 A. I couldn't say which came first, but I do remember there

24 were definitely at least two different groups from the

25 emergency services. I think they had different high
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 1 visibility jackets. But I didn't know which was which

 2 and I couldn't tell you who was there first.

 3 Q. Whilst you were waiting for the ambulance, do you

 4 recollect -- and again, I'm sorry to ask you this -- but

 5 do you recollect whether or not any of the bodies you

 6 saw were moved at all?

 7 A. They weren't moved.

 8 Q. Whilst you were waiting, did anyone tell you what they

 9 thought had happened from the emergency services, was

10 there any discussion as to what had occurred?

11 A. I overheard somebody say the word "bomb". Nobody talked

12 directly to me, but that was just something I overheard

13 in their conversation.

14 Q. You were eventually taken, as you said, to St Mary's,

15 and I think your right ankle was operated on twice?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. I think we also know that you gave evidence to the

18 London Assembly.

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. I'm not going to ask you about that, because a lot of

21 that deals with the way in which you were treated

22 afterwards rather than events which happened at the

23 particular scene, but one of the things you said was

24 this: you wanted to express your gratitude to all those

25 who were involved in the rescue on 7 July and those who
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 1 have supported you since, without whom you may not be

 2 alive and certainly would not have recovered so well.

 3 Is that correct?

 4 A. That expresses my feelings very well, and I'm sure

 5 I would like to add that anything that anybody did or

 6 any kind word to any of the injured people on the train,

 7 anything anyone did to assist the people who died, would

 8 have made a difference. It made a difference to me, it

 9 would have made a difference to everybody.

10 MR HAY: Mrs Lazenbatt, thank you very much. I have no more

11 questions for you, but others might.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Saunders?

13 Questions by MR SAUNDERS

14 MR SAUNDERS: Mrs Lazenbatt, can I say I only have a few

15 matters that I'd like your help with, please.

16 Following on from what Mr Hay has just asked you,

17 I think at the same time when you were giving your

18 account to the London Assembly in April of 2006 your

19 understanding at that stage was that you were, in fact,

20 the last survivor to be taken off the carriage.

21 You've mentioned to us that Elizabeth Owen went off

22 slightly before you because she, you believe, was more

23 badly injured than you were. So, in fact, you're there

24 throughout the whole of this period, unfortunately, when

25 various acts were taking place.
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 1 I'm representing, as far as your evidence is

 2 concerned, the family of Laura Webb, who you know now

 3 was the lady you're describing at door D1. I think

 4 you've already covered the fact that your recollection

 5 is hearing Elizabeth Owen saying "She's not breathing".

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. We are going to hear from, I think, Elizabeth next, and

 8 then Steve Hucklesby, who I think you also, later, were

 9 aware of his name, but obviously not at the time.

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. He is the person principally giving aid to Laura,

12 I think. Is that your understanding and recollection

13 now?

14 A. It's what I understand to be the case now, but I didn't

15 see him trying to resuscitate Laura at the time, but

16 I wasn't looking in that direction.

17 I was, I think, focused more on looking across at

18 the train that had stopped alongside us at that point

19 and the efforts to try to open the doors on that train.

20 Q. We know that Mr Hucklesby comes from that train. So

21 he's coming from the eastbound train to get on to your

22 carriage. But you can't help us with how long after it

23 may be that you're aware of somebody tending to Laura on

24 the floor?

25 A. I can't, because I didn't actually see that.
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 1 Q. Or how long before Elizabeth goes to Laura, can you help

 2 with that?

 3 A. When she called out asking for help, that was very soon

 4 after the blast. That would have been, I think, within

 5 the first few minutes.

 6 MR SAUNDERS: Thank you very much indeed, Mrs Lazenbatt.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Yes, Ms Gallagher?

 8 Questions by MS GALLAGHER

 9 MS GALLAGHER: Ms Lazenbatt, I have seen an article that

10 quoted you in the New Zealand Herald from 2009 after

11 a memorial service where you said that that particular

12 day was about remembering Laura Webb and Jonathan Downey

13 who died beside you.

14 You've heard from Mr Saunders who represents the

15 Webb family. I represent the Downey family. So you

16 obviously subsequently came to learn that those two

17 bodies you've described were Laura Webb and

18 Jonathan Downey?

19 A. I did -- I discovered quite soon that the woman's body

20 I'd seen was Laura Webb. I did try to find out who the

21 man was, because there were many stories about really

22 how terrible it was after the blast, which must have

23 been very distressing for the families, and I thought,

24 if I can find out who that man was, I would be able to

25 tell his family that I didn't see any sign of life from
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 1 him, I think he must have died very quickly. So I did

 2 make enquiries through the support network that we have

 3 to try to find out his identity, and it seemed likely

 4 that it was Jonathan Downey.

 5 Q. That's extremely helpful to the family, to have your

 6 indication that, as far as you're concerned, he was

 7 killed instantly rather than suffering. There's just

 8 one thing I need to confirm.

 9 It's pretty clear from the answers you've given to

10 Mr Hay, but just to confirm absolutely, could I have

11 [INQ10282-9] on the screen? You've described the male

12 body as being partly in the standing area on your side

13 of the carriage, that's by double doors D2, with the

14 head towards D2 and the legs between seats 2 and 31.

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. You'll see on that graph that there's a number 9 for

17 Jonathan Downey over towards double doors D1. Can you

18 say with certainty that that position on the graph is

19 incorrect in terms of what you saw that day?

20 A. That was certainly not what I saw because I remember the

21 lower part of his body being more or less in front of my

22 feet where I was sitting.

23 MS GALLAGHER: That's very helpful. I've nothing further,

24 thank you.

25 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Does anyone else have any questions
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 1 for Mrs Lazenbatt?

 2 I do, if I may, Mrs Lazenbatt. Going back to the

 3 question of timing, if we work backwards from you --

 4 you've been told that we know that you arrived at

 5 hospital at 11.10.

 6 A. Yes.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Which hospital was that?

 8 A. That was St Mary's.

 9 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: You're the last survivor removed from

10 the carriage, as far as we're aware, and you think that,

11 from what others have told you, it was perhaps an hour

12 from the time that Elizabeth Owen is taken off, so

13 you're lying in the carriage --

14 A. Yes.

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: -- having been, as it were,

16 triaged --

17 A. Yes.

18 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: -- and treated as best they could at

19 the scene?

20 A. Yes.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: You say that you're then lying there

22 for an hour before you're taken off?

23 A. I've been given different estimates by people who were

24 there, ranging between about 45 minutes and an hour and

25 a half, and Elizabeth Owen told me she thought she had
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 1 been taken to hospital around 10.00.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: How long before, as it were, you're

 3 ready to go, once an ambulance is available, how long

 4 before that had any paramedics or doctors come along to

 5 treat you? Do you have any idea of that timing?

 6 A. Sorry, could you just explain --

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Yes. If we're supposing

 8 Elizabeth Owen went off to hospital at about 10.00, how

 9 long before that do you think it was that anybody had

10 arrived officially to help you medically?

11 A. I'm not quite sure. I think somebody did put in an

12 intravenous drip at some point. I'm not sure when that

13 was. I think that was quite some time before I was

14 taken off the train.

15 I do remember a paramedic asking me how I was at one

16 point when they were dealing with people on the train

17 and I said that my chest hurt and he sounded my chest

18 very briefly and said "That's fine" and went off,

19 I think, unfortunately, he missed the fact that there

20 was a lung injury.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Apart from the intravenous drip, were

22 you given any other medical treatment in the carriage?

23 A. No, I didn't get any other medical treatment and

24 I didn't get any oxygen until I was put in the

25 ambulance.
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 1 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Do you think -- or are you not in

 2 a position to say -- that oxygen might have helped?

 3 A. I'm sure that oxygen would have helped, in that it did

 4 help as soon as I received it. I was told afterwards

 5 that the paramedics didn't think I would survive because

 6 I'd waited so long. I suspect that oxygen on the train

 7 would have been a help.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: As far as extricating yourself from

 9 the debris is concerned, is that what you did with the

10 assistance of -- on your own or with the assistance of

11 others, other passengers, or with the assistance of

12 rescue people? How did you end up with your legs across

13 the seats, because you must have somehow extricated

14 yourself?

15 A. Yes, I think I brought my legs up because, after

16 somebody from the front carriage had stepped on the

17 debris that had made my ankle injury worse, I was keen

18 to get my feet, as soon as I could, out of the way of

19 people walking through, so I think I brought my feet up

20 so I was completely on the seats.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So you managed to get yourself out of

22 the debris?

23 A. I managed to get my legs out, and then, when Matt was

24 moved, I was able to lie down on the seat, I think with

25 my legs up against the front wall of the carriage.
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 1 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Were you conscious of any other

 2 emergency rescue people apart from the paramedics and,

 3 if so, at what stage?

 4 A. There were -- as I say, I'm pretty sure there were two

 5 groups of emergency services staff, because I think they

 6 were wearing different-coloured high visibility jackets.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Are these the groups you say were

 8 talking at the end when there was nothing more to be

 9 done until the ambulance arrived, or is this earlier?

10 A. This was earlier on. I assumed -- I think there were at

11 least two of them left at the end who I assume were

12 paramedics.

13 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Does anybody have any questions

14 arising from my questions? Yes, thank you,

15 Ms Ormond-Walsh.

16 Questions by MS ORMOND-WALSH

17 MS ORMOND-WALSH: We are aware there were some HEMS doctors

18 there, do you remember that, some helicopter doctors?

19 A. No, I don't remember that.

20 Q. You've mentioned two types of emergency people, two

21 groups. What do you mean by that?

22 A. I remember there being different high visibility jackets

23 that they were wearing. I think it was probably they

24 were different colours, but I can't remember anything

25 more about that, about differences between --
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 1 Q. Do you remember seeing anybody in orange jumpsuits?

 2 I know it's hard.

 3 A. I can't remember anything for certain.

 4 Q. Just in relation to timing and your memory, rather than

 5 what you've heard from other people, we are aware that

 6 one of the HEMS doctors -- or the HEMS team arrived at

 7 10.15 and, when the HEMS doctor went down to the

 8 carriages, the only people that were actually in there

 9 were dead, so the people -- all the people that had

10 survived, like you, had been taken out, and they left

11 the scene -- anyway, they went straight down, the main

12 doctor went straight down to the carriage at 10.15, and

13 the London Fire Brigade and the London Ambulance Service

14 had got everybody out. Does that change your mind about

15 the timing of things?

16 A. Not really, in that I do remember there being this long

17 gap after Elizabeth Owen was taken out and I did check

18 with St Mary's about the time that I went into A&E and

19 I know I went straight off the train into an ambulance,

20 straight into a resuscitation room at the hospital, and

21 I have a vague recollection of a clock in the area I was

22 taken to and that it was some time around 11.00 at that

23 point.

24 Q. But apart from your knowledge of the time that you

25 arrived at the hospital, how much is your memory and
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 1 what you've heard from other people about the timing of

 2 things?

 3 A. I can only say that it seemed a very long time to me

 4 that I was on the train. I do remember it being a very

 5 long wait, but obviously, the condition I was in,

 6 I didn't have a precise sense of time.

 7 Q. Somebody had put a drip in, though, your hand or arm by

 8 the sound of it?

 9 A. Yes.

10 Q. You're not sure whether that would have been a doctor or

11 a paramedic?

12 A. I don't know, because I can't remember who put it in.

13 MS ORMOND-WALSH: All right, thank you very much.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you, Ms Ormond-Walsh.

15 MR HAY: My Lady, without wishing to muddy my learned

16 friend's waters, there is a document provided by the

17 London Ambulance Service which suggests that the scene

18 was cleared of casualties at 10.36, that's LAS133-4,

19 which is slightly different from the timing which the

20 HEMS doctors suggest.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much.

22 Are those all the questions, then? Ms Simcock may

23 have -- all right.

24 Thank you very much indeed, Mrs Lazenbatt. I'm

25 sorry -- you probably heard what I said to Mr Childs --
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 1 I am really sorry we had to ask you to go through it,

 2 but it is enormously helpful to me and my enquiries and,

 3 I suspect, also extremely helpful to the families, and

 4 thank you for the attempts you made to provide some

 5 comfort to the Downey family. Thank you very much.

 6 Yes, Mr Keith? Would you prefer to take the break

 7 now?

 8 MR KEITH: My Lady, we have one further oral witness this

 9 morning. It may be that we will have insufficient

10 witnesses to take us to lunchtime because two of the

11 witnesses scheduled for today are scheduled to give

12 evidence through a videolink and the exigencies of the

13 location of one of them means that we have to wait until

14 3.30.

15 So, my Lady, I am entirely in your hands. We can

16 either break now, but I suspect we will stop before

17 lunch in any event.

18 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I understand a short break would be

19 appreciated, so we'll take the usual break, 15 minutes.

20 I'm sorry if it's going to -- I hope it doesn't cause

21 Elizabeth Owen any inconvenience.

22 MR KEITH: Not at all.

23 (11.19 am)

24 (A short break)

25 (11.34 am)
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 1 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Keith?

 2 MR KEITH: My Lady, may I invite to you call Elizabeth Owen?

 3 MS ELIZABETH APRIL OWEN (sworn)

 4 Questions by MR KEITH

 5 MR KEITH: Good morning, may I invite you to give the court

 6 your full name?

 7 A. Elizabeth April Owen.

 8 Q. Ms Owen, ordinarily, in July 2005, you would travel to

 9 Central London from Earlsfield station, but I think you

10 were accustomed to taking the Bakerloo Line to

11 Paddington where you worked?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. But on Thursday, 7 July, you didn't?

14 A. That's right.

15 Q. Do you remember how you travelled in to Central London

16 that morning?

17 A. Yes, the Bakerloo Line was disrupted, so I took the --

18 I think it's the Jubilee line to Baker Street, and at

19 Baker Street I changed on to the Circle Line.

20 Q. May we presume that was to go to Paddington --

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. -- in the usual way?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. Do you recollect which carriage you boarded?

25 A. I now know that -- well, it was the carriage where the
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 1 bomb went off, which I now know was the second carriage.

 2 Q. You prepared for the police -- could we have, please,

 3 INQ8596, page 2 [INQ8596-2] -- a diagram, or rather they presented

 4 you with a map of carriage 2, and you marked on the

 5 plan, you'll see in the bottom left-hand corner,

 6 a number of seats, because you weren't entirely sure in

 7 which seat you had, in fact, been located.

 8 May I ask you this: when you boarded the carriage,

 9 do you recollect whether you sat down on the same side

10 of the carriage as the platform from which you entered

11 the carriage, or did you go to the other side of the

12 carriage and then sit down so you were facing back at

13 the platform?

14 A. The same side as the platform.

15 Q. We know from the evidence that the platform that you

16 would have boarded the carriage from would have been on

17 the upper side of the carriage if you were to look at it

18 on this plan and, therefore, it may be that you were, in

19 fact, seated opposite on the other side of the plan from

20 that which you originally marked.

21 A. Right. I think it's more likely, then, that I've

22 misremembered where I sat when I got on, because I --

23 from remembering what happened after the blast, I pieced

24 together where I was sitting, I have a stronger memory

25 of that than I do about where I actually -- where I sat
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 1 down when I got on.

 2 Q. We'll come to the detail in a moment, but certainly in

 3 your statement you appear to recollect that the

 4 explosion caused the carriage roof to the left of you to

 5 start to fall in, and you turned your head immediately

 6 to the left, which would seem to indicate the explosion

 7 was on your left.

 8 A. No, I think the reason that I had that impression was

 9 that the -- what I was seeing was the ricochet effect

10 from the blast, so I think the blast came from my right

11 and it resulted in the ceiling to my left coming

12 crashing down.

13 Q. All right. On reflection -- and you have, of course,

14 thought about these events on innumerable occasions, I'm

15 sure -- can you be more precise as to which seat you

16 think you were seated in of those four that you marked

17 on the plan for the police?

18 A. I think it's most likely that -- it's quite hard to see

19 the numbers, but I think it's -- it was either 30 or 29.

20 Q. We know that it is rather hard to see, but they are the

21 two seats to the left, as you look at the diagram?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. All right. Do you recollect anybody sitting on either

24 side of you?

25 A. At the time, I thought that there might have been, but
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 1 on reflection, I think -- I do actually have no

 2 recollection of there being anybody there. I imagine

 3 that there was because my instinctive reaction, after

 4 the bomb went off, was to say something to my left, but

 5 I think that was a purely instinct reaction, I don't

 6 think it necessarily means that there was somebody there

 7 that I was addressing the remark to.

 8 Q. To your right, can you, on reflection, recollect anybody

 9 being present at all?

10 A. No, I wasn't very aware of anybody else on the train, to

11 be honest, because I sat straight down and began to read

12 my newspaper.

13 Q. Tell us, please, what you can recollect of the explosion

14 itself?

15 A. What I recollect is a strong sense of something rushing

16 past me from my right to my left. I swung round to my

17 left and I remember shouting, "What is it, what is it?"

18 Then I remember what felt like the ceiling coming in,

19 primarily to my left. I remember there being a lot of

20 dirt and smoke, and then I remember having a very strong

21 sensation that there was -- it felt like a strong

22 electrical shock. Whether that's what it was or not,

23 I don't know. What it might have been, I suppose, is

24 vibration in the carriage caused by the train suddenly

25 braking. I don't know.
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 1 Q. Did you try to do anything to stop that sensation of

 2 a surge of electricity?

 3 A. Yes, I thought, probably irrationally, that it made

 4 sense for me to try and stand up. I tried to jump out

 5 of my seat. I did jump out, but I didn't end up

 6 standing because my leg -- my right leg was quite badly

 7 injured, and it just gave way beneath me. So I found

 8 myself sitting on the floor.

 9 Q. Could we have on the screen [INQ10282-9]? This is another

10 diagram, but it shows in greater clarity the seats 30

11 and 29, the two seats that you've mentioned. When you

12 fell to the floor because of the injury -- we'll come

13 back to your injuries later -- to your right ankle, did

14 you fall to the floor in front of those seats or to the

15 left of the seats, that is to say on the other side of

16 what had been the perspex screen?

17 A. I think it was slightly to the left.

18 Q. Were you immediately able to see anybody else around you

19 in the carriage or was the smoke and the dark and the

20 chaos such that it was impossible?

21 A. Very quickly, I became aware of the lady that I now know

22 to be Laura Webb.

23 Q. Where was she?

24 A. She was lying on her back. My recollection is that she

25 was lying diagonally with her head in the top right-hand
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 1 corner of that space between the two double doors.

 2 Q. So towards seat number 3?

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. The rest of her body, which way was that pointing?

 5 A. She was -- I think she was lying diagonally so that her

 6 feet were pointing towards seat 31.

 7 Q. Was she the first person whom you saw?

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. Was she moving?

10 A. No, but she was breathing. I could see she was

11 breathing.

12 Q. How could you tell?

13 A. I think I saw some slight movement in her chest, but

14 also, she had -- I moved over to get closer to her and

15 I could see that she had some blood in her nostrils and,

16 as she was inhaling and exhaling, there was just a very

17 slight movement there.

18 Q. Could you hear any noise? Was she making any sound?

19 A. No.

20 Q. Sorry to ask you. Do you recollect whether her eyes

21 were open?

22 A. I don't really have a clear recollection of that.

23 I should say that, although I'm not terribly

24 short-sighted, my glasses were blown off my face by the

25 force of the blast, so although I could see quite close
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 1 to me, I couldn't see anything too far away from me.

 2 What I -- I remember having a vague impression that

 3 Laura had some blood about her face, but I can't

 4 remember that detail.

 5 Q. Did you try to talk to her?

 6 A. I did.

 7 Q. Was that in order to try to get a response?

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. Were you able to see the nature of her injuries?

10 A. No.

11 Q. There is some suggestion in a book written subsequently

12 by Mr Peter Zimonjic that you may have tried to place

13 your fingers in front of her nose, also, to check

14 whether or not she was continuing to breathe?

15 A. I may have done that. To be honest, I don't recall

16 that.

17 Q. All right, it's your evidence and your recollection that

18 is, of course, the one that matters.

19 We know from other evidence that her clothes were

20 shredded in the explosion. Do you recollect that as

21 well?

22 A. I don't remember them being shredded particularly.

23 I remember that she was wearing a skirt and the skirt

24 had been lifted by the blast. I remember that

25 particularly, because, later on, one of the members of
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 1 the emergency services took the trouble to lay it back

 2 down over her.

 3 Q. Were you the first person to reach her?

 4 A. Yes, I believe so.

 5 Q. Did there come a time when her breathing stopped?

 6 A. Yes, well, I remember becoming very anxious about her,

 7 presumably because her breathing was slowing or had

 8 stopped. I can't remember exactly. But I remember

 9 a sense of panic about that. So I tried a little bit of

10 pressure on her arm to see if she would respond to some

11 physical stimulus, as she wasn't responding to a verbal

12 stimulus, and I had no response at all, and I think it

13 was at that point that I -- well, it was at that point

14 that I called out for help, because I don't know how to

15 administer first aid and I'm not sure I could have done

16 it anyway, but at that point, I called out to see if

17 there was anybody who could do something for Laura.

18 Q. So you called for help?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. There is some suggestion in the evidence that you may

21 also have called out that she had stopped breathing, so

22 you said that out aloud as well?

23 A. I may have done. I don't remember.

24 Q. Did anybody respond to your call for help?

25 A. Yes, somebody did come.
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 1 Q. Who was that?

 2 A. It was a man who I understand now was Steve Hucklesby.

 3 He went to Laura's aid. He gave her -- I certainly

 4 remember him pressing on her chest. I think he may have

 5 also tried mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. I do remember

 6 a lot of concern in the carriage next to us about what

 7 was happening. You may want to come on to that later.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: The train next to you?

 9 A. Yes.

10 MR KEITH: For how long do you recall that he attempted to

11 use chest compression and mouth-to-mouth resuscitation?

12 A. I don't know.

13 Q. Were you able to see whether there was any response to

14 the cardiopulmonary resuscitation that he was

15 attempting?

16 A. There was no response that I can remember.

17 Q. The concern being expressed by the other train, was that

18 people calling out and shouting from the other train

19 towards you and Mr Hucklesby?

20 A. Yes, I think they were, although my hearing was quite

21 impaired by the blast, so it was -- a lot of what

22 I could hear was quite muffled, but my strong

23 recollection is that there were people in the next

24 carriage who were desperately trying to get to us to

25 help us, but in the absence of an ability to do that,
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 1 I remember somebody gesticulating to Steve to try chest

 2 compression and giving him signs as to how to do that.

 3 Q. From what you've said, it appears that you made your way

 4 across to Laura Webb very quickly after the explosion,

 5 having fallen to the floor and having yourself been

 6 injured, and you immediately called out for help for

 7 Laura. So may we take it that these events occurred

 8 really very soon after the point of the explosion?

 9 A. I believe that's right.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Can you help at all -- and I know how

11 difficult it is -- as to how long after you had called

12 out for help that Mr Hucklesby arrived to you?

13 A. Almost immediately is my recollection.

14 MR KEITH: Mr Hucklesby had come from the adjacent train.

15 Do you recollect anything of how he managed to get into

16 the carriage? Did you see him get into the carriage at

17 all?

18 A. No.

19 Q. Or how the doors on the other carriage were broken or

20 the windows were smashed to allow entrance into your

21 train?

22 A. No, I think that must have been at another part of the

23 carriage.

24 Q. When it became apparent that Mr Hucklesby's attempts to

25 resuscitate Laura Webb had failed, did he move away?
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 1 A. Did he move away?

 2 Q. Did he move away?

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. You, of course, remained where you were because of your

 5 injuries?

 6 A. I think I moved away because -- I think it must be

 7 because I was in the way of what was happening. There

 8 were people trying to move around me.

 9 Q. Did you move very far?

10 A. I moved so that where I ended up was that my back was

11 leaning against the pole next to seat 31.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: When you say you moved, how were you

13 moving?

14 A. I think I shuffled across forward.

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: You shuffled on your bottom, as it

16 were?

17 A. Yes.

18 MR KEITH: Did you see anybody else lying on the floor of

19 the carriage in the standing area between doors D1 and

20 D2?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. Could you tell us, please, what you can recollect?

23 A. I recall, from when I was with Laura, that there was

24 something else on the floor in the space which -- sort

25 of -- I don't know the best way to describe it, really,
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 1 but between seats 2 and 31. As I moved away from Laura,

 2 I became aware that this probably was another person and

 3 so I looked more closely and I lifted up what I thought

 4 was his hood, and I could see a man's face there, but it

 5 was very bloody and I immediately assumed that he was

 6 dead. There was no sign of life at all.

 7 Q. You've said "his". Do we take it, therefore, you were

 8 able to ascertain that the body was that of a male from

 9 his face, or from his size, or some other distinguishing

10 characteristic?

11 A. I think it was probably more his physique, yes.

12 Q. We take it from your evidence that there was no sign of

13 life, no movement, no breathing, nothing to indicate

14 that he was alive?

15 A. That's correct.

16 Q. Can you recollect anything else of that man by way of

17 clothing? You've mentioned a hood. Can you recollect

18 anything about a jacket he was wearing or a tie or

19 anything?

20 A. He was -- I think he was lying face down, so I think his

21 head was turned slightly to one side, but I think,

22 largely, he was lying face down. I think he was wearing

23 some kind of anorak. I thought that because of the kind

24 of fabric it was. That's really all I recall.

25 And, as far as his location is concerned, I don't
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 1 remember if -- I'm assuming now, because I didn't know

 2 this before, that this man must have been

 3 Jonathan Downey. He wasn't really where that number 9

 4 indicates on the drawing. My recollection of where his

 5 head was is that it was more like perhaps to -- slightly

 6 to the left of where the number 8 is in the drawing.

 7 Q. So towards the middle of the carriage?

 8 A. I think so, yes.

 9 Q. Was anybody else near you and Jonathan Downey at that

10 stage?

11 A. I was aware of two people on seats 31 and 32, who I now

12 know are Matthew and Kathy who we've heard from this

13 morning, and by that time, I think there were people

14 moving around the carriage to help.

15 Q. Do you recollect anybody coming towards you and Laura

16 and Jonathan to help either of them, other than

17 Steve Hucklesby, of course, whom you have already

18 mentioned?

19 A. I don't remember anything clearly. I think part of --

20 perhaps it's worth bearing in mind that I was sitting on

21 the floor, so I had a less clear view of some of the

22 activity that some people may have done. I have a very

23 strong recollection of a lot of people's knees rather

24 than their faces as they moved around.

25 Q. From your statement, we know that you also recollect and
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 1 you were able to see the crater caused by the bomb.

 2 A. I was aware that there was a hole in the floor of the

 3 carriage, and I think that's not because I could see the

 4 hole, but I could see people around it and looking down

 5 into it.

 6 Q. Do you recollect whether there was anybody near or in

 7 that crater or hole?

 8 A. I couldn't say, but because there were people looking

 9 down into it, I assumed that there was.

10 Q. Did you see whether they were doing more than just

11 looking down into the hole, talking to somebody or

12 helping to try to pull somebody out?

13 A. They were talking to somebody in the hole. I think they

14 were talking to each other about what they could do.

15 But I couldn't say in any -- I couldn't tell you what

16 they were saying, because it was too confused and

17 I think my hearing was not good enough to have heard

18 that, in any event.

19 Q. Did you stay where you were, having moved -- crawled out

20 of the way and therefore finding yourself near seat 31?

21 A. I stayed there.

22 Q. What happened after that?

23 A. Eventually, the emergency services arrived. I have

24 a recollection of looking at my watch and thinking that

25 it was at about 9.20. I don't know exactly which
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 1 services arrived, but I do remember there being

 2 paramedics on the scene and there being Fire Brigade

 3 staff on the scene as well.

 4 Q. Do you remember whether they arrived en masse or in

 5 groups or --

 6 A. I don't know.

 7 Q. -- in dribs and drabs?

 8 A. I couldn't -- I think they must have arrived in dribs

 9 and drabs, but I can't be sure.

10 Q. All the time, the adjacent train was, of course,

11 alongside your carriage.

12 A. Mm-hmm.

13 Q. Were you aware of it?

14 A. Very much, yes.

15 Q. You describe in your statement people on that train

16 trying to help. What were they doing?

17 A. They were trying to find a way to get off their train

18 and on to our train. My strong recollections about that

19 train being there are really, one, that we were so

20 fortunate to have light from that train because I don't

21 remember there being any source of light on the train

22 that I was on, but it was very helpful to have light

23 from the other -- from the carriage next to us.

24 Also, I remember feeling it was very reassuring that

25 there were other people there and who knew what had
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 1 happened because we didn't feel -- we didn't feel

 2 isolated for that reason.

 3 Q. What was the first medical aid that you received?

 4 A. I remember somebody asking me what I thought my injuries

 5 were and I explained that I thought I had broken my leg,

 6 and I remember, some time after that, being asked,

 7 presumably by a paramedic, whether I was feeling

 8 nauseous, and I said I was, so I was given, I think, an

 9 injection to help with the nausea.

10 Q. Did that person who gave you the injection then move

11 away or did they stay with you?

12 A. They moved away, I think.

13 Q. Was there then a further elapse of time before they came

14 back?

15 A. I don't know whether that person ever came back, but --

16 Q. Somebody did?

17 A. Somebody did, yes, and there were -- apart from the

18 emergency services, there were other people on the scene

19 who were helping; for example, Kathy mentioned earlier

20 two Metronet engineers, and I know from conversations

21 I've had since that at least one of those came to my

22 assistance as well. I was sitting on the floor and

23 I had quite a lot of back pain which I don't think was

24 related to my injuries, but it was very hard for me to

25 sit comfortably without any support, so he put his leg
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 1 behind my back so that I had something to lean on.

 2 I think at some point somebody tied a tourniquet around

 3 my leg as well, but I don't remember who that was.

 4 Q. Might that have been Steve Hucklesby?

 5 A. It could have been, I honestly don't know.

 6 Q. I say that because your statement, which was made nearer

 7 the time in August 2005, records how you thought that

 8 a man called Steve used your scarf to wrap around your

 9 injured leg.

10 A. Yes, somebody did it, and I probably had a clearer

11 memory at the time that I wrote -- that I gave the

12 statement of who it was.

13 Q. Did there come a time when you were moved out of the

14 carriage on a stretcher?

15 A. Yes, to begin with, I was told that I would have to wait

16 for a little while because there were other passengers

17 who were in need of -- in greater need of assistance

18 than I was, but they came to me fairly soon after that

19 and took me off the train. I don't know exactly who was

20 carrying the stretcher, but I do remember in particular

21 that there was a firefighter who was one of the

22 stretcher carriers.

23 Q. Do you recollect others on the train being moved off?

24 A. I was aware that Matthew had been moved out of our

25 carriage, but I believe, from what I've learnt since,
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 1 that he was actually moved into another carriage.

 2 I don't remember -- have clear memories of anybody else

 3 being moved off. Certainly, I have no recollection that

 4 Kathy was moved off before me, so I understand she was

 5 moved after me.

 6 Q. Indeed, your statement actually records how, certainly

 7 in 2005, you had been able to recollect that Matthew was

 8 only moved to the next carriage to give more room to the

 9 rescuers.

10 You were taken along the track to the Edgware Road

11 station platform?

12 A. Mm.

13 Q. Did you then receive initial treatment in the A&E at

14 St Mary's?

15 A. I did, yes. I do remember also that there was some

16 delay in locating an ambulance for me. I was very

17 relieved to be out in daylight, but I do remember that

18 the firefighter who was one of the stretcher carriers

19 told me that they were looking for an ambulance. In

20 fact, he made a little joke that I might have to go on

21 a fire engine, and so I would very much echo what Kathy

22 said earlier, which is that little moments of humour and

23 warmth like that were -- really made a big difference.

24 Q. Were you operated on that day?

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. You received treatment in a number of operations to

 2 address the injuries on your leg?

 3 A. And to my ear.

 4 Q. And to your ear. I think you also had two broken ribs,

 5 bruising?

 6 A. Yes, those were quite minor injuries, though, I don't

 7 remember having much difficulty with those.

 8 MR KEITH: Thank you very much. Will you stay there,

 9 though, please, because there may be some further

10 questions for you?

11 A. Yes, sure.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Saunders?

13 Questions by MR SAUNDERS

14 MR SAUNDERS: Ms Owen, I think, as you know, I represent the

15 family of Laura Webb.

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Can I ask you this: do you remember before the explosion

18 where anybody was in the carriage?

19 A. No.

20 Q. You obviously had more dealings with Laura than anybody,

21 and I've checked that there doesn't seem to be any

22 mention of having seen her before the explosion.

23 A. That's right.

24 Q. After the explosion had taken place, do you remember any

25 announcement or tannoy coming over the carriage?
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 1 A. I don't remember that, but I do have a recollection of

 2 somebody who I assumed was a train driver, I think he

 3 either came into the carriage or he was moving along --

 4 he was walking along the track next to it, but I would

 5 have been able to hear him relatively clearly because

 6 the doors were blown out.

 7 Q. So there you're referring to somebody who may have been

 8 talking towards the carriage rather than a tannoy coming

 9 over the internal --

10 A. I don't remember anything on a tannoy, no.

11 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Sorry, just before you go on,

12 Mr Saunders -- I'm sorry to interrupt.

13 MR SAUNDERS: Not at all, my Lady.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Saunders said: do you remember

15 somebody talking towards the carriage as if they were

16 official? Do you remember any kind of a suggestion of

17 someone saying they know what's happening or things are

18 under control?

19 A. I remember being reassured that there was somebody there

20 who clearly was seeking to take a degree of control of

21 the situation. That was reassuring. But quite what he

22 said, I couldn't say.

23 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So you got the feeling that somebody

24 like a driver was, as it were, uttering words of

25 reassurance?
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 1 A. Yes, I think he was also trying to -- I think he was

 2 trying to calm and try and reduce any sense of panic

 3 that there may have been, including among those who

 4 weren't injured and possibly including those on the

 5 other train.

 6 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you.

 7 MR SAUNDERS: We're going to hear, a little later on, the

 8 evidence in particular from one of the train drivers who

 9 wasn't on your train or the eastbound train,

10 Mr Matthews, who's going to say that he was either going

11 through the carriage or at the track trying to calm and

12 reassure and that's what you remember as well, I think.

13 A. Mm-hmm.

14 Q. The position, as you've already been able to describe,

15 of Laura, you only ever remember Steve Hucklesby being

16 there. I think that's right, isn't it?

17 A. You mean as -- and nobody else?

18 Q. Nobody else, as it were, trying to perform any sort of

19 medical CPR or resuscitation?

20 A. I don't remember anything else, but it is possible that

21 paramedics will have gone to her for assistance.

22 Q. Forgive me, it's my fault, Ms Owen, I didn't make myself

23 clear, I mean at the outset.

24 A. I don't remember anybody else, no.

25 Q. Because notwithstanding the nasty injuries you suffered,
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 1 you're in a position very close to Laura, I think, on

 2 the floor.

 3 A. I was close, although there was a lot going on, so if

 4 anybody else had gone to her, I couldn't say for

 5 definite that I would have seen that.

 6 Q. Should we take it, though, that because you've put

 7 yourself onto the floor, as it were, explaining as you

 8 have done, you would be unlikely to miss somebody else

 9 coming and performing CPR on Laura?

10 A. Unlikely, except I was by -- I did move to the other

11 side of the carriage, and there were people moving

12 around in the carriage. There was a lot going on. It's

13 possible my attention would have been distracted by

14 something. I certainly have no recollection of anybody

15 else being there.

16 Q. It appears -- and can I say, apart from your statement

17 which you made within a month of this incident, you've

18 also, I know, written to the Webb family.

19 A. Mm.

20 Q. You've set out a little more detail, including being

21 close and taking Laura's hand, as it were, at that

22 stage, and we've heard the evidence you've already

23 given. But your recollection was, although you were

24 aware initially of Laura breathing, it was a very short

25 period?
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 1 A. That's right.

 2 Q. And that notwithstanding Mr Hucklesby's heroic efforts,

 3 there was no further sign of life?

 4 A. That's my recollection.

 5 Q. Can I just say this, Ms Owen: you have commended, as has

 6 Kathy Lazenbatt before you, those few words that people

 7 gave to you. The Webb family very much would like me

 8 publicly to thank you, both for your note that you wrote

 9 to Hazel, Laura's mother, setting out, as you did, all

10 the circumstances to try to, as it were, reassure them,

11 but also, bearing in mind your injuries, the way in

12 which you stayed by Laura, and they take huge comfort

13 from the fact that she didn't die alone. On their

14 behalf, may I thank you?

15 A. Well, that's very kind of them, thank you.

16 MR SAUNDERS: Thank you, my Lady.

17 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions? Yes,

18 Ms Gallagher?

19 Questions by MS GALLAGHER

20 MS GALLAGHER: Ms Owen, insofar as it relates to your

21 evidence, I represent the families of both

22 Jonathan Downey and Stan Brewster, Michael Brewster,

23 who's the man who was trapped in the hole. I've just

24 got some short questions about them to supplement what

25 you've already been asked.
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 1 Could I just start, firstly, with the man you now

 2 understand to be Jonathan Downey, the male body which

 3 was close to Laura Webb. You've described lifting up

 4 what you believed to be a hood and you said you that you

 5 thought the fabric was anorak-like. Could it be that

 6 the item you moved was a suit jacket?

 7 A. A what?

 8 Q. A suit jacket rather than an anorak?

 9 A. It is possible. It may be that it's possible that

10 clothing may have blown up over his head. I couldn't

11 say for sure, that was what I thought at the time.

12 Q. That's helpful. We know from other evidence that the

13 body of Mr Downey was recovered with a damaged suit

14 jacket, a Pierre Cardin suit jacket, partially covering

15 his hair. So, if it could have been a jacket, it would

16 tie in with your view that that was probably Mr Downey.

17 A. Right.

18 Q. Could I also just ask you a couple of short questions

19 about the person at the crater. Now, you've described

20 earlier that you didn't see that person directly, but

21 you understood he was there. In your statement

22 from August 2005, you said you thought there was someone

23 down the hole or the crater who was conscious. Did you

24 assume that person was conscious from the impression you

25 had that people were talking to the person?
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 1 A. That's right.

 2 Q. There was nothing else which led you to believe that the

 3 person was conscious?

 4 A. No.

 5 Q. You've also said today, in answer to some questions from

 6 Mr Keith, that you believed there were people at the

 7 crater who were talking to the person and talking to

 8 each other. Can you give us any rough indication of how

 9 many people were in the area of the crater and involved

10 in talking to the person and talking to each other about

11 him?

12 A. Not really, no.

13 MS GALLAGHER: I have nothing further, thank you.

14 A. May I just clarify one thing, actually?

15 MS GALLAGHER: Of course.

16 A. In relation to the gentleman that I now know to be

17 Jonathan Downey, it might be of some comfort to the

18 family to know that, while I was being helped by,

19 I think, paramedics, they did lean me at one point --

20 I think my legs were leaning against him, and because he

21 did still feel warm, I did ask the -- I expressed

22 concern that they just check that there wasn't any more

23 that could be done for him, and they assured me

24 categorically that there wasn't any more that could be

25 done, and he was, in fact, dead.
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 1 MS GALLAGHER: Ms Owen, the Downey family are in court, and

 2 I'm sure they'll take great comfort from that

 3 reassurance in addition to the assurance you gave

 4 Mr Keith earlier about you being clear that there were

 5 no signs of life when you first looked at him. So thank

 6 you very much for that on their behalf.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you, Ms Gallagher.

 8 Yes Ms Canby?

 9 Questions by MS CANBY

10 MS CANBY: Ms Owen, I just have a couple of questions to ask

11 you on behalf of Transport for London. You've told us

12 that you have a recollection of somebody who you assumed

13 was a train driver, and he either came into the carriage

14 or was walking on the track. Can you remember which of

15 those it was? Can you remember whether or not he was in

16 the carriage or on the track?

17 A. I'm afraid I can't.

18 Q. Have you any idea -- and I appreciate how difficult it

19 is -- how long after the explosion you saw that man?

20 A. It felt like it was very soon. I couldn't say any more

21 clearly than that.

22 Q. Thank you. Did you say anything to him, do you

23 remember?

24 A. No.

25 Q. You didn't?
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 1 A. No.

 2 Q. Are you able to describe him at all?

 3 A. No, I was just aware he was there. I didn't get a clear

 4 sight of him.

 5 Q. Could you tell in which direction he was walking? Could

 6 you tell whether or not he was walking to the front of

 7 the train and, therefore, towards Paddington, or to the

 8 rear of train and, therefore, towards Edgware Road?

 9 A. I think he was walking from -- I'm not sure I've quite

10 understood that. I thought he was walking from the

11 front of the -- he was walking, I think, from the end of

12 the carriage --

13 Q. The end of your carriage?

14 A. Yes, so -- but --

15 Q. But from behind you?

16 A. I can't describe it without the --

17 Q. Without the plan? Does the plan help?

18 A. Yes, I think he was walking in the direction from where

19 seat number 1 is towards the other end of the carriage.

20 Q. So from 1 down towards 16, so from the left of this

21 picture down to the right?

22 A. That's right, yes.

23 Q. So that would be going back towards Edgware Road

24 station.

25 A. That's how I would have understood it, yes.
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 1 MS CANBY: Thank you, that's very helpful.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you, Ms Canby.

 3 Yes Ms Simcock?

 4 Questions by MS SIMCOCK

 5 MS SIMCOCK: Thank you.

 6 Ms Owen, you've described looking at your watch when

 7 paramedics arrived, or paramedics and firemen, and it

 8 being about 9.20. In your statement, you also said:

 9 "I believe the amount of time I was at the scene of

10 the bomb before being taken to hospital was about half

11 an hour after the emergency services arrived, so perhaps

12 an hour in total."

13 Does that still sound right to you?

14 A. Yes.

15 Q. Was that time spent predominantly above ground rather

16 than on the train, that last half an hour?

17 A. No, it was nearly all still on the train.

18 Q. Do you remember, at any time on the train after

19 emergency services had arrived, a concern being

20 expressed about a secondary device?

21 A. No. In fact, I had no idea it was a bomb.

22 MS SIMCOCK: Thank you.

23 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Do you know what time you got to

24 hospital, did you say?

25 A. I don't have an official record of it, but my impression
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 1 has always been that it was at around 10.00.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any more questions?

 3 Thank you very much indeed, Ms Owen. You've heard

 4 from the barristers acting for the families what

 5 a comfort it is to them to know that you shuffled your

 6 way, despite your own injuries, to help and try to

 7 comfort their loved ones. So thank you for that, and

 8 thank you for being of great assistance to me.

 9 A. It's a pleasure.

10 MR KEITH: My Lady, that concludes the oral evidence for

11 this morning. The next oral witness will be Mr Bullen

12 who will join us via videolink from Manchester at 2.00.

13 We can read shortly the statement of

14 Catherine Al-Wafai, which is listed on this afternoon's

15 schedule.

16 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Very well.

17 MR HAY: My Lady, the statement of Catherine Al-Wafai is

18 dated 4 April 2007 and has the usual declaration of

19 truth.

20 Statement of MS CATHERINE AL-WAFAI

21 "I was a passenger on the Edgware Road Underground

22 explosion ... I have attempted to recall as much detail

23 as possible. I had a job interview at 9.45 that day in

24 the South Kensington area, so I set off in good time.

25 My intentions that morning were to get the Bakerloo Line
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 1 to Baker street and to then change on to the Circle Line

 2 and take the Tube to South Kensington. This is not the

 3 obvious route to take. The shortest way would be to

 4 take the Bakerloo Line and change at Paddington.

 5 However, I used to talk my son to a school in

 6 South Kensington and we used to change at Paddington.

 7 Paddington was always really busy and it was a struggle

 8 to get a seat at that time in the morning, hence me

 9 going to Baker Street that morning, where it is quieter

10 and I know I can get a seat.

11 "So I got the Tube from Warwick Avenue to

12 Baker Street. I then waited on the platform for the

13 Circle Line train to arrive. The platform was fairly

14 busy. I did not take any notice of who was around me.

15 The train pulled up and I got on to the second carriage

16 from the front. I believe I got on in the middle of the

17 carriage through a set of double doors. I then turned

18 right into the carriage and then sat on the right-hand

19 side with my back towards the station platform.

20 "I can remember that, once I had sat down, all the

21 seats were taken and that the carriage was fairly busy

22 but not packed. I did not look at anybody in the

23 carriage. I just started to read my book. I can recall

24 sitting next to a white lady to my left who was wearing

25 Clinique perfume. I can only remember that she was
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 1 white and in her 30s."

 2 If we could have up on the screen, please,

 3 [INQ10282-8], the Metropolitan Police assessment is that

 4 Ms Al-Wafai is number 7 on the plan, my Lady:

 5 "I cannot remember stopping at Edgware Road station.

 6 I can only assume that we did and I just cannot recall

 7 it. All of a sudden, I heard a very loud bang coming

 8 from my left followed by a big flash. The carriage went

 9 into complete darkness, and I could hear people

10 screaming. I immediately thought that the train had

11 crashed. I can remember a strong smell of burning and

12 having difficulty to breathe. I will remember the smell

13 of the smoke forever. I don't think it will ever go

14 away. Some lights came back on. It was total chaos

15 inside the carriage. I was still sat halfway on my seat

16 with my legs sort of crossed around me, somebody was

17 laid over my legs, I cannot remember anything about

18 them.

19 "The lady to my left was not moving. She had blood

20 spouting from her. I could see that the blood from this

21 lady had saturated my clothing down the left-hand side.

22 I did not even think I was injured. I can remember just

23 thinking I want to get off the carriage to get home and

24 see my son.

25 "Once the lights came on, I could see glass and
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 1 debris everywhere. I was shocked to see a large hole in

 2 the carriage floor approximately 5 feet away from me in

 3 the direction from where the initial bang had come. At

 4 this point, I started to think that we had not been

 5 involved in a crash, but a bomb of some sort had gone

 6 off. The lady to my left was still not moving or making

 7 any noise. As I managed to get up, I touched her neck.

 8 I cannot remember if she was alive or not. I felt

 9 guilty as I moved away from the lady. I said 'Sorry' to

10 her. She did not reply. I do remember a distinctive

11 Australian male voice inside the carriage. He may have

12 assisted me in moving out of the carriage. I moved to

13 my right and into the adjoining carriage away from the

14 direction of the hole in the floor and the carnage

15 around me.

16 "I was led down a ladder on to the tracks. I was

17 petrified that another bomb was going to go off. It was

18 very, very dark on the track. Many of the other

19 passengers were crying and moving along the track very

20 slowly. Luckily, I still had my handbag positioned over

21 my chest and around my neck. I was also still carrying

22 my jacket. The only thing that I lost was one of my

23 shoes. When I eventually got home, I realised I had

24 lost my black shoe from my left foot. I don't know

25 where I had lost it. I may have left it on the carriage
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 1 or lost it walking home.

 2 "I eventually arrived at the platform back at

 3 Edgware Road station. I could see that many of the

 4 passengers were injured and covered in blood. I had

 5 a small cut on the underneath of my left arm and a small

 6 cut on my left calf. I can recall it taking ages to go

 7 up some stairs. We then had to go through the ticket

 8 barriers one by one. I just wanted to get home, away

 9 from what was happening.

10 "Once outside, I saw a number of ambulance staff and

11 police officers. I do not remember giving my name to

12 anyone. I did not want to get in the way, as other

13 people were more seriously injured than myself.

14 A number of staff from a Marks & Spencers store nearby

15 had come out on to the street and were helping the

16 injured. I was handed a man's jumper by a female member

17 of staff as I was cold and shaking. I had tried to use

18 my mobile phone, but I could not get any connection.

19 The networks were jammed. I walked home. I do not know

20 how long it took me or which way I went. Nobody was at

21 home. I collapsed in the hallway and just curled up."

22 My Lady, Ms Al-Wafai then goes on to explain the

23 effect the bomb had on her.

24 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I'm sorry, I didn't look at the plan

25 quickly enough when it was up on the screen. The lady
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 1 to her left we think is ...? She was number 7.

 2 MR HAY: She is number 7. Well, the lady to her right on

 3 that plan would have been Mrs Owen, but she believes she

 4 was sitting on the opposite side of the carriage, as you

 5 will recollect from her evidence to Mr Keith, but of

 6 course, if she were sitting on that side of the

 7 carriage, that is likely to place her in fairly close

 8 proximity to where it's believed Mohammed Sidique Khan

 9 was sitting.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So we're not too sure who the lady to

11 her left is?

12 A. No, we're not. No lady is positioned on the left of

13 Mrs Al-Wafai in that diagram.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: She seems to have had quite a vivid

15 memory, that's all. Very well, thank you. So those are

16 the only witnesses we can deal with this morning?

17 Two things, Mr Keith. One, we're having an open

18 directions hearing this afternoon?

19 MR KEITH: We are.

20 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: At what time is that listed

21 currently?

22 MR KEITH: On Lextranet at 4.30, because we have a videolink

23 at 2.00 from Manchester and a second videolink after

24 another witness at 3.30 from Florida, and that's

25 unlikely to be complete before 4.00, which is when
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 1 my Lady had originally hoped that the directions hearing

 2 would take place. So I'm afraid it's now at 4.30.

 3 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So the witness who's via videolink

 4 from Florida, how long do we think -- which witness is

 5 it?

 6 MR KEITH: Lisa Levine. I suspect that we will be concluded

 7 well before 4.30, but equally, I suspect, not before

 8 4.00, hence the listing for 4.30 for the directions

 9 hearing.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Who are we expecting? Well, you

11 didn't even know it was going to be Mr Garnham. I'm

12 told it's Mr Garnham. I wonder if we could send

13 a message saying if they could get here a little earlier

14 just in case, because it will have been a long day for

15 everybody and I don't want to keep them hanging around.

16 So if we could send a message, could they please get

17 here for 4.00, and be understanding if we're not quite

18 ready for them.

19 MR KEITH: My Lady, yes. In the same vein, may I also say

20 that one of the called witnesses for tomorrow, a witness

21 from America, is not available and steps to try to trace

22 her have failed. In those circumstances, we'll be

23 reading her statement as well and, therefore, we have

24 only at the moment two oral witnesses in the morning and

25 two in the afternoon. So we're going to try to take
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 1 steps to bring the witnesses in the afternoon forward

 2 but I would ask my learned friends to be aware of that

 3 because, if we succeed, then they will be required to

 4 examine those witnesses also in the morning.

 5 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much.

 6 The only other matter I wanted to think about was

 7 what I was told this morning about how the families

 8 discovered about the announcement. I appreciate we have

 9 to have internet access to allow access to Lextranet.

10 I'm just concerned that the families might be disturbed

11 to see any access to the internet generally, suddenly

12 seeing the Google sign come up.

13 MR KEITH: My Lady, our information is that it was during an

14 adjournment.

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Oh, I see, right.

16 MR KEITH: I don't know that there's a suggestion that

17 anything distressing appeared on the screen during the

18 course of evidence, as it were, and, therefore, could be

19 seen by the members of the bereaved families sitting in

20 the back of court. The access is, I'm bound to say, for

21 my part, quite important, because so much administrative

22 work goes on during the course of the day for which

23 email access is essential. But certainly I have been

24 unaware of general media access through the screens

25 being displayed in open court.
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 1 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Well, everybody has heard my concern.

 2 I think that everybody -- obviously the screens are, as

 3 it were, facing towards the families sitting at the

 4 back, so I hope that considerable care will be taken in

 5 the use of the screens. I wouldn't want to have to

 6 impose any kind of restrictions and I certainly won't do

 7 so unless I absolutely have to, but people have to

 8 remember that there are members of the families behind

 9 them.

10 MR KEITH: Absolutely.

11 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much. 2.00 pm.

12 (12.26 pm)

13 (The short adjournment)

14
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